Exercise intolerance and exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in children

Predrag B. Minic^{1,2}, Aleksandar D. Sovtic^{1,2}

¹Mother and Child Health Institute of Serbia, Department of Pulmonology, 6 Radoja Dakica St. 11070 Belgrade, Serbia, ²School of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Doktora Subotica St. 11000 Belgrade, Serbia

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Physiological response to exercise
- 4. Reasons for exercise intolerance
 - 4.1. Disruption of oxygen transport
 - 4.2. Disorders of gas exchange in the lungs
 - 4.3. Disorders of ventilation
- 5. Exercise-induced bronchoconstriction
 - 5.1. Pathogenesis of EIB
 - 5.2. Exercise testing for measurement of airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma
 - 5.3. Treatment of EIB
 - 5.3.1. Nonpharmacologic treatment
 - 5.3.2. Pharmacologic treatment
 - 5.3.2.1. Short-acting beta, agonists
 - 5.3.2.2. Mast-cell stabilizing agents, anticholinergics and antihistamines
 - 5.3.2.3. Inhaled corticosteroids, long-acting beta, agonists and montelukast
- 6. Conclusion
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Respiratory symptoms at rest or during exercise may restrain the physical capabilities required for normal motor and psychosocial development in children. The most frequent cause of exercise intolerance, apart from poor physical fitness, is exerciseinduced bronchoconstriction (EIB), which may occur in some healthy children and in children with asthma. It is proposed that hyperventilation during exercise is associated with drying and cooling of airways, which can trigger a proinflammatory response. Several tests are used to confirm EIB, and the exercise-challenge test is the most common. Some nonpharmacologic therapies may induce airway refractoriness; warm-up exercise can result in the attenuation of EIB in more than half of the people with EIB. Prophylactic intermittent treatment with short-acting bronchodilators is the most commonly used treatment, but the conventional pharmacologic therapy for patients with uncontrolled asthma is the regular use of inhaled corticosteroids, with or without long-acting beta-agonists and montelukast. Therapy should result in optimal control of exercise-induced symptoms during habitual physical activity and also allow participation in sports activity in athletes.

2. INTRODUCTION

Physical activity is necessary for normal growth and development in childhood. It is well known that the children who are not sufficiently physically active because of various chronic diseases may have numerous physical. psychological and psychosocial limitations. Respiratory symptoms during exercise may limit children's ability to be physically active. The most frequent cause of exercise intolerance, apart from poor physical fitness, is exercise-induced bronchoconstriction (EIB), which is mostly associated with wheezing during exercise. The prevalence of self-reported exercise-induced respiratory events varies among the general adolescent population between 14-19.2 percent (1, 2). In athletes without known asthma, the prevalence is even higher, up to 30 percent (3). These events occur more frequently in athletes practicing sports with high minute ventilation in a cold environment (e.g., cross-country skiing) or with high exposure to toxins (e.g., ice hockey). The results of two large cohort studies showed that in children younger than five years of age, exercise-induced wheezing and cold dry air hyperpnea were the strongest predictors of asthma later in life (4, 5). Several other disorders, such as chronic cardiac or lung diseases, congenital malformations of airways, exercise-induced hyperventilation or exercise-induced laryngeal obstruction, may result in respiratory problems during exercise. The most frequent disorder among these is chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD) (6). Joshi *et al* (7) showed that school-age children who experienced CLD in infancy had a significantly higher incidence of EIB that responded significantly to bronchodilators.

The aim of this article is to provide an overview of the physiological response to exercise with special consideration for the etiology, diagnosis and treatment of exercise-induced wheezing.

3. PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSE TO EXERCISE

In healthy children, energy consumption is mainly determined by the degree of physical activity. Patients who are unable to perform certain physical activities have exercise intolerance. The exercise capacity is directly related to the capacity of the respiratory and cardiovascular systems to deliver oxygen to muscles and to the ability of muscles to take oxygen from the blood and use it in mitochondrial oxidative processes (8). The energy, stored as glycogen and fat depots, can be used during the processes of cellular metabolism.

The process of muscular contractions is associated with energy consumption through the hydrolysis of energy-rich molecules of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). ATP hydrolysis leads to the release of a phosphate molecule and energy, which is necessary for muscle activity. Intracellular ATP reserves are only sufficient for a few muscle contractions, so the most important source of new ATP molecules is the process of oxidative phosphorylation. During exercise, oxygen is extracted from the arterial blood to a greater extent, which results in a reduction of the oxygen content in venous blood. In addition, there is an increase in minute ventilation (MV) and lung perfusion, which results in an increase in the oxygen content in the pulmonary veins. The adaptation of the cardiovascular system to exercise is based on the increase in cardiac output, the redistribution of circulation through vasodilatation of the arterioles in the involved muscles and the elevation of arterial blood pressure.

A progressive increase in muscle load finally leads to muscle fatigue, which is characterized by exhaustion of aerobic metabolism. Additional energy is obtained from anaerobic glycolysis, which is less efficient. When exercising muscles are not capable of meeting the increased metabolic needs, muscular fatigue develops, which is followed by anaerobic metabolism and lactic acidosis. The respiratory system is capable of compensating these conditions through a further increase in MV and increased elimination of carbon

dioxide (VCO_2) For mild and moderate levels of activity, the increased MV is a result of an initial increase in the tidal volume (V_T), but at a higher level of activity, it is also followed by an increase in respiratory frequency. The level of oxygen consumption (VO_2) at which there is a net increase in the lactate concentration in serum is called the anaerobic threshold (AT). The ratio of VO_2 and VCO_2 is called the respiratory exchange ratio (RER). An RER value greater than 1 is a true sign of the exhaustion of aerobic metabolism (8, 9).

In most healthy subjects, exercise is terminated with a preserved respiratory reserve, because in these subjects, exercise intolerance is mostly caused by muscle fatigue. In some patients with obstructive lung diseases, these compensatory mechanisms are inefficient, which may lead to a reduced oxygen content in arterial blood with decreased hemoglobin oxygen saturation (SpO₂) and finally, to the demonstrated metabolic acidosis. Rarely, highly trained athletes may have a ventilatory limitation on the maximal effort because of the exhaustion of the normal ventilatory reserve as a result of ideal aerobic metabolism in exercising muscles.

In subjects with respiratory diseases, regardless of the etiology, two major factors describe the pathophysiology of exercise intolerance – decreased ventilatory capacity and increased ventilatory requirements (8). Decreased ventilatory capacity in children with obstructive lung diseases is mostly caused by increased pulmonary resistance, which leads to progressive airway obstruction. Increased ventilatory requirements are caused by a mismatch between ventilation and perfusion. In patients with severe airway obstruction, PaCO₂ often increases during exercise because the increased work of breathing worsens metabolic acidosis. Ventilatory limitation and dyspnea, as well as muscle fatigue during a progressive effort, lead to exercise intolerance in these patients.

Pain in the chest, arm or neck, which is a common symptom of myocardial ischemia, or claudication, which occurs because of an inadequate oxygen supply of the muscles of the lower exercising extremities, occur infrequently in children.

4. REASONS FOR EXERCISE INTOLERANCE

In a number of patients with exercise intolerance, typical symptoms of the disease occur during physical effort. Common diagnostic procedures are necessary to confirm diagnosis (i.e., echocardiography or spirometry). Cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) offers the best insight into pathophysiological mechanisms and interactions that could explain exercise-induced symptoms, such as wheezing, chest tightness, difficult breathing or dyspnea (when several mechanisms are possible).

Testing exercise tolerance in healthy subjects and patients with respiratory, cardiovascular, skeletal muscle, and metabolic disorders is complicated. The complex method is based on the principle that the insufficiency of a complex organic system usually occurs in its exposure to stress, which can be tested in controlled laboratory conditions. Exercise intolerance occurs when a person is unable to sufficiently maintain the degree of effort that is necessary to accomplish the previously set goal (10, 11). During the gradual increase in the physical load on the ergo-bike or treadmill, the lung ventilation, gas content in exhaled air, SpO₂, heart rate, electrocardiogram (ECG) and blood pressure values are measured and analyzed.

4.1. Disruption of oxygen transport

Oxygen transport to working muscles depends on cardiac output (CO), tissue perfusion and the oxygen content of arterial blood. If one or more of these factors are insufficient, there will be a reduction in the concentration of oxygen in muscles.

Cardiac output is a function of preload, afterload and myocardial contractility. In patients with heart failure, severe cardiac arrhythmia and severe arterial or pulmonary hypertension, CO may be decreased. An increase in metabolic need in such patient leads to premature exhaustion of compensatory mechanisms, low VO_2 on maximum load ($\mathrm{W}_{\mathrm{max}}$), and a very rapid increase in RER, and it manifests as hypoxemia and acidosis.

Patients with severe anemia have low arterial oxygen content due to low hemoglobin levels. These patients very often have malaise and exercise intolerance, which can be improved by treatment.

4.2. Disorders of gas exchange in the lungs

Widening or fibrosis of the pulmonary interstitial space, which occurs in interstitial lung diseases or in pulmonary edema, results in impaired diffusion of respiratory gases, mostly oxygen, through the alveolocapillary membrane. In severe emphysema, there is also a reduction in the total surface of the respiratory membrane, which may also lead to diffusion problems. This problem is aggravated by increased ventilation of improperly perfused lung units (dead space ventilation). The best insight into the percentage of blood that leaves pulmonary circulation without being oxygenated (amount of pulmonary shunt) can be obtained by calculating the alveolar-arterial gradient for oxygen (AaDO₂).

4.3. Disorders of ventilation

An increase in the concentration of ${\rm CO}_2$ in arterial blood (${\rm PaCO}_2$), acidosis and a reduced concentration of oxygen (${\rm PaO}_2$) are the stimuli for an increase in ventilation during exercise. The maintenance of the respiratory gas concentrations in arterial blood within normal ranges is influenced by the functional

ability of the respiratory system. This capacity can be estimated by maximal voluntary ventilation (MVV), which represents the maximum amount of air that can be exhaled during forced breathing in one minute. In addition to direct measurement, it is possible to calculate this important indicator of ventilation based on the value of the forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), where MVV = FEV₁ x 35. The ratio of MV and MVV is called breathing reserve index (BRI), and values greater than 0.85 at W_{max} indicates inefficiency ventilation (12).

The pattern of the airway response to exercise is mainly determined by the intensity of exercise and airways caliber. In healthy subjects, exercise has bronchodilator effects. The exact mechanism of this effect is unknown. It is proposed that an increase in $V_{\rm T}$ leads to stretching of muscle fibers in the airway wall, thus reducing the ability for effective contraction (13). In addition, the release of PGE $_2$, PGI $_2$ (14, 15) and NO and the inhibition of cholinergic activity are possible mechanisms for the physiologic bronchodilation during exercise. In children with respiratory diseases, these physiologic mechanisms can be compromised.

Patients with severe obstructive ventilatory impairment have static hyperinflation, defined as the residual volume (RV) and total lung capacity (TLC) ratio. It was previously shown that static hyperinflation is a significant negative predictive factor for exercise intolerance in patients with obstructive lung diseases (16). In these patients, progressive effort leads to an additional increase in lung volumes due to dynamic hyperinflation. As a result of these impairments, the MV for the degree of VCO2 (respiratory equivalent for CO2) is increased. Given the dependence of MV on Vt and respiratory rate, it is clear that a paradoxical decrease in Vt instead of a physiological increase in progressive effort leads to exhaustion of the breathing reserve and thus to inefficient ventilation and oxygenation. Pulmonary resistance depends on airway and tissue resistance. Through an increase in the mean lung volumes, the airway resistance decreases but may also slightly increase by increased flow (17). An increase in the lung elastic recoil and increased blood flow in the lung lead to decrease in tissue resistance with breathing frequency. A comparable result caused by increased airway resistance, with good responsiveness to inhaled bronchodilators, may occur in children who exhibit EIB.

5. EXERCISE-INDUCED BRONCHOCONSTRICTION

Transient bronchoconstriction and an increase in airway resistance during exercise occur in some healthy children and also in children with asthma. EIB occurs in 8.6-12 percent of healthy children aged 7-17 years, and 40-80 percent of children with asthma may have some degree of EIB (12, 18). Although EIB is

more common in children without adequately controlled asthma, it sometimes can be the only manifestation of disease. Results from a recent survey in the United States showed that the three most frequently reported symptoms in children with asthma and EIB were cough (62.3 percent), shortness of breath (61.4 percent) and wheezing (52.5 percent) (19). These symptoms are mostly mild, usually reaching a maximum 10 minutes after the exercise and might only occur in specific environments, such as ice rinks or indoor swimming pools. Johansson et al (2) showed that the prevalence of EIB in a general adolescent population (mean age 14.2 years) is 19.2 percent regardless of gender. Among adolescents in this study who had symptoms, a random subsample underwent an exercise test. There were no significant differences in nutritional status, lung function or previous medical history with respect to self-reported respiratory symptoms during exercise. In a recent study, Mainardi et al (20) showed that EIB is more prevalent in low-income neighborhoods. They suggested that EIB may indicate susceptibility to rapid-onset exacerbation and may be a useful indicator for urgent medical visits.

In rare cases, severe episodes of EIB can be followed by respiratory failure and even death (21). If these respiratory symptoms occur after physical exercise in children without a previous diagnosis of asthma, they may raise clinical suspicion of asthma. It often affects the quality of life and frequently results in withdrawal from physical activity. Even elite athletes, particularly those in winter sports, may have a high incidence of EIB. Its prevalence may be up to 50 percent in cross-country skiers (22).

According to an official American Thoracic Society (ATS) statement, the diagnosis of EIB is established by changes in lung function provoked by exercise not on the basis of symptoms. The criterion for the percent decrease in FEV₁ used to diagnose EIB is more than 10 percent. A joint task force of the European Respiratory Society (ERS) and European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (EAACI) defined exercise-induced asthma (EIA) as symptoms and signs of asthma occurring in an asthmatic after exercise, whereas EIB was defined as a reduction in FEV₁ of at least 10 percent after a standardized exercise test (23).

5.1. Pathogenesis of EIB

Increased metabolic needs in exercising muscles lead to higher VO_2 and an adaptive augmentation in minute ventilation. Higher minute ventilation and mouth breathing leads to reduced warming of inspired air and increased water loss. EIB occurs predominantly after the cessation of a short period of hyperpnea and lasts from 30 to 90 minutes in the absence of treatment. Compared to non-athletes, high-level endurance athletes have an increased prevalence of EIB (24). Although the exact mechanism is unknown, two overlapping hypothesis are currently considered.

The first described mechanism is the osmotic hypothesis, which suggests that hyperventilation leads to dehydration of the airway surface, which is a stimulus for water to move out of epithelial cells and results in a loss of cell volume. Dehydration leads to an increase in the intracellular ion concentration (25), which has a proinflammatory effect. The second hypothesis involves airway cooling by inspired air, which transiently decreases bronchial blood flow (26). Airway narrowing that occurs 10-15 minutes after the beginning of exercise or during breaks results from rewarming, induced vascular engorgement and airway edema (27). Sole cooling and rewarming without hyperventilation was not shown to induce EIB in an animal model (28). Hyperventilation with cold dry air produced a smaller increase in airway blood flow than did hyperventilation with warm dry air (29). Stensurd et al (30) showed a significant increase in the VO₂ peak and the peak running speed in patients with previously established diagnosis of EIB; these changes occurred through an increase in the relative humidity of the environmental air from 40 percent to 90 percent. Couto et al (31) measured the exhaled breath temperature (EBT) in asthmatic and non-asthmatic elite swimmers before and after training to evaluate the cooling of airways as a possible mechanism for EIB. Although EBT significantly increased in all swimmers, asthma was not shown to be a predictor of change in EBT. The authors suggested that the increase in EBT that results from respiratory heating loss is a physiological response to exercise. These findings all indicate that airway drying is the primary stimulus for EIB. The most probable scenario is that epithelial cell shrinkage and cooling/rewarming processes coexist.

Exercise and EIB seem capable of triggering epithelial damage and an extensive inflammatory response (32). Increased osmolarity stimulates mast cell degranulation and the release of both preformed mediators, such as histamine, and newly formed mediators, such as eicosanoids (33). It was shown that the inflammatory cell count was increased in healthy subjects exercising at a moderate intensity for 2 h in a dry and cold environment (34). An increase in urinary LTE, excretion after an exercise challenge has been demonstrated in patients with asthma (35). The concentration of cysteinyl leukotrienes (CysLTs) in the exhaled breath condensate, which was obtained noninvasively, was higher in asthmatic children with EIB than in patients without EIB. A significant positive correlation was shown between baseline CysLT levels and the maximal FEV, decrease after exercise (ref 5). Hallstrand et al. (36) showed that inhalation of hypertonic saline, which imitates the natural process of epithelial dehydration during exercise, leads to epithelial damage. The analysis of induced sputum showed a relationship between the percentage of epithelial cells at baseline in induced sputum and the severity of EIB. They also successfully demonstrated that the levels of CysLTs are associated with epithelial cell release into the

airways. This is related to the increased expression of phospholipase A group X in alveolar epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages, which play key regulatory role in CysLT synthesis (37).

Airway inflammation is accentuated by allergen and airway pollution exposure. BAL and bronchial biopsies studies (38, 39) showed increased neutrophilia in sport participants involved in any type of endurance training. On the contrary, an increased eosinophil and lymphocyte count is related to exposure to environmental factors, such as chlorine compounds in swimmers or carbon fuel exhaust in ice skaters. The coexistence of rhinitis may also have a negative influence on the development of EIB due to increased mouth breathing and insufficient air conditioning in the upper airways (40).

5.2. Exercise testing for measurement of airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma

Several bronchial challenge tests are commonly used in lung function laboratories to diagnose bronchial hyperresponsiveness (BHR). The diagnosis of EIB can be confirmed in patients with exercise-induced symptoms in whom BHR has been established by bronchial provocation tests. Reversibility in response to inhaled bronchodilators, preferably inhaled beta₂ agonists, is a common test in clinical practice. A positive test is indicated by an increase in FEV₁ greater than or equal to 12 percent compared to baseline values, which is a direct confirmation of BHR. Bronchodilators can be administered by a metered dose inhaler, nebulizer or dry powder inhaler.

The direct methacholine challenge test is a well-established dose-response test, and it is more useful in excluding a diagnosis of asthma than in establishing one (21). It shows bronchial muscle functionality through the direct action on airway smooth muscle. In athletes who did not receive any inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) and in those who have been treated with ICS for less than 3 months, the provocative concentration that causes a 20 percent decrease in FEV $_1({\rm PC}_{20})$ should be less or equal than 4 mg/ml. For those patients who received ICS more than 3 months, PC $_{20}$ should be less than 16 mg/ml (41).

The response to an indirect challenge may be normalized in patients treated with inhaled corticosteroids and bronchodilators. The indirect bronchial challenge tests act on neurally mediated pathways, the neuropeptide release from sensory nerves and the mediator release from inflammatory cells. Challenges that affect both of these pathways, are considered more specific than those that directly affect smooth muscle (42). These tests are exercise testing, eucapnic voluntary hyperpnea, the drypowder mannitol test and the nebulized hypertonic saline (4.5 percent) test (21, 42, 43).

An exercise challenge test (ECT) is the most commonly used indirect challenge and the first to be

standardized (44). It is suggested that ECT should be performed in the environment that usually causes symptoms of EIB (40). In pediatrics, severe airflow limitation (FEV₁ less than 50 percent) is practically the only absolute contraindication for ECT. A controlled free-run test lasting 6 minutes is suitable for very young children, but the running duration is limited with age (12). Airflow limitation can develop earlier and last for a shorter time than after a standardized ECT in older children and adults. The preferred mode of ECT in older children is CPET performed on either a cycle ergometer or a treadmill. Although CPET allows consideration of the mutual influence of different organ systems during physical exercise, the measurement of pulmonary gas exchange is not required to evaluate EIB.

ECT is mostly performed in an air-conditioned room with an ambient temperature below 25°C and low relative air humidity (less than 50 percent). Treadmill or bicycle ergometer protocols are comparable (21). The goal is to achieve the target MV quickly and sustain this level for 4 minutes. The target MV should be 40-60 percent of MVV. The target work rate (in Watts) to achieve the target MV can be calculated using different equations (21). The work rate is set to 60 percent of the target in the first minute, 70 percent in the second, 90 percent in third and 100 percent in the fourth; then, the exercise intensity should be sustained for 4-6 minutes. Another target that can be used to confirm the maximum effort is the heart rate, which should be 80-90 percent of the predicted maximum (220-age in years) (8). The best results can be obtained if the test is hard and brief. A very short warm-up period is essential to avoid refractoriness to EIB.

The primary outcome variable of an exercise challenge test is FEV₁, which is measured before the exercise and then after exercise starting from the 5th minute up to 30 minutes in 5 minutes intervals. The spirometry should be performed with the subject in a seated position, utilizing the principles defined in ATS/ERS Task force (45). A post-exercise exercise decrease in FEV, of more than 10 percent at each time interval from the preexercise baseline FEV, is considered to be confirmative of the presence of EIB (21, 42). The severity of the FEV₁ drop compared to the preexercise values can be graded as mild if the decrease is between 10 percent and 25 percent, moderate if it is in the range between 25 percent and 50 percent and severe if it is above 50 percent (46). The results from some other studies suggested that a decrease in the FEV, of 15 percent appears to be more diagnostic (47). In younger children (3-6 years old), who cannot perform CPET, the $\mathsf{FEV}_{0.5}$ value that is measured after a free-run test is a better index than FEV₁ for describing a positive ECT (12).

In recently published research, Sanchez-Garcia et al. (48) evaluated which test has the best predictive

value in detecting BHR in pediatric patients with EIB. They tested a relatively small and homogenous group (N=45) of patients with previously diagnosed asthma that primary performed a methacholine test, followed by a mannitol test; the latter resulted in the best detection of BHR. Some other biomarkers are also used to evaluate the positive exercise challenge test. Kruger et al. (49) evaluated the utility of hyperpolarized He-3 MRI in detecting the regional lung ventilated volume (Vv) in patients with EIB. They showed that after an exercise challenge, Vv decreased to a greater extent than FEV, in patients who were treated with montelukast for EIB compared to patients who received a placebo. That finding led to the conclusion that an evaluation of the regional ventilation with imaging potentially provided a more specific biomarker for the evaluation of EIB than did FEV₄.

5.3. Treatment of EIB

The goals of asthma management in athletes who experience EIB should be similar to non-athletes: regular follow-up visits, good compliance to therapy, individualized therapeutic protocols, avoidance of environmental exposure, recognition of co-morbidities and prevention of asthma-related exacerbations and hospitalizations (23, 50, 51). Although the different treatment modalities should prevent EIB and enable children to be physically active, in athletes, the treatment should facilitate participation in sports activity with minimal symptoms (46). This goal can be achieved by nonpharmacologic and pharmacologic therapy.

5.3.1. Nonpharmacologic treatment

In all patients with episodic EIB, several nonpharmacologic therapies may induce refractoriness of airways and diminish known pathophysiological mechanisms that lead to wheezing symptoms. Warm-up exercise can result in the attenuation of EIB in more than half of the population. This effect lasts 1-2 h, during which bronchoconstriction is less likely (24). This refractory period probably develops as a result of tachyphylaxis of airway smooth muscles to mediators that induce bronchoconstriction. Larson et al (52) showed that repeated challenge with mannitol (as a substitute for exercise testing) is associated with diminished release of mast cell mediators of bronchoconstriction, which results in the refractoriness of airways to exercise. The warm-up exercise that is the most appropriate for preventing EIB includes high-intensity and variable intensity intervals before the planned exercise (53, 54). Training programs improve general conditioning, which also has beneficial effects in decreasing the minute ventilation for an existing workload. That change led to less dehydration and cooling of airway mucosa.

Training under inappropriate weather conditions, such as very cold or dry air or in areas with high levels of air pollution or high concentrations of

allergens, in sensitized persons may be a contributing factor for EIB. Warming and humidification of inspired air by facemasks is routinely advised in children with EIB in cold weather (46). Breathing through the nose should be favored to preserve the true function of the upper airways – to humidify and warm inspired air (55).

Airway function can also be affected by ozone, nitrogen dioxide, elemental carbon and ambient particulate matter derived from tobacco smoke and mineral fuel combustion. In urban environments, fine particles (less than 2.5 μm in aerodynamic diameter) and ultrafine particles (less than 0.1 μm), which have a size that makes them respirable particles, are mostly generated by traffic from diesel exhaust (56). Persons with asthma or EIB are more susceptible to air pollution and should avoid traffic exposure during exercise. Chlorinated indoor swimming pools should be properly ventilated to decrease the air concentration of chloride-based compounds, such as chloramines.

Dietary modification may have some influences on EIB. Several studies showed beneficiary antioxidant effects of vitamin C in decreasing BHR (57, 58). In animal studies, a single oral dose of vitamin C decreased the plasma levels of histamine, and its deficiency may cause decreased production of PGE2, which may have a protective effect on EIB by causing smooth muscle relaxation. It was shown that a single oral dose (1-2 g/day) rapidly elevated the levels of vitamin C in the nasal mucosa and epithelial lining fluid. A recent metaanalysis identified 3 placebo-controlled trials that studied the effect of vitamin C on EIB (59). The pooled data from 40 participants indicated a 48 percent reduction in the FEV, decline after ECT when vitamin C was administered before exercise. Clinical practice guidelines recommend dietary supplementation of vitamin C for those patients motivated to use dietary interventions to control EIB (46, 55).

Few studies evaluated the effects of a low-salt diet on the mean percent decrease in ${\sf FEV}_1$ after ECT (60). A smaller decrease was observed in patients in whom a low-sodium diet was maintained for 1-2 weeks compared to patients who did not receive it (61). Having in mind that low sodium intake is a good nutritional habit, it seems worthwhile to try implementing this diet in therapeutic regimes in patients, especially athletes, who experience EIB (46, 51).

Mickleborough *et al* (62) evaluated a relatively small group of elite athletes with EIB and showed that the daily intake of fish oil for 3 weeks did not have affect the preexercise or postexercise lung function but significantly reduced inflammation and bronchial reactivity. Polyunsaturated fatty acids derived from fish oil inhibit metabolism and the synthesis of cytokines implicated in the development of EIB and may be a potentially useful adjunctive treatment modality.

5.3.2. Pharmacologic treatment

Wheezing during exercise in children is frequently associated with underlying persistent asthma, but it should never result in the cessation of sports activity. The most common therapeutic approach for preventing EIB is prophylactic intermittent treatment with bronchodilators. If bronchodilators are used frequently, then regular treatment with controller medication should be initiated, which can mostly attenuate EIB (63).

5.3.2.1. Short-acting beta, agonists

Short-acting beta₂ agonists (SABA) are effective in preventing EIB when used 5 to 20 minutes before exercise (23, 46, 64). The effects lasts up to 2 h, but in 15-20 percent of patients with EIB, SABA may fail to prevent bronchoconstriction. The currently used SABAs have no performance-enhancing effects in athletes regardless of a previous diagnosis of asthma (24).

A recent Cochrane review evaluated the results of 59 studies that assessed the effects of beta₂ agonists on EIB (65). Compared to placebo, to SABA and longacting beta₂ agonists (LABA) were shown to be effective at reducing the postexercise decrease in FEV₁, without a difference in the occurrence of side effects. The long-term use of SABA may result in the loss of asthma control, which may compromise its effects and increase BHR. The precise mechanism of tachyphylaxis is unclear, but it is mostly related to the polymorphism of beta₂ receptors, its internalization or reduced production and uncoupling from secondary messengers (66).

Changes in international sports legislation led to a 27 percent reduction in the reported usage of SABA between the 2000 and 2004 Olympics (50). This decreased occurred because all athletes had to have documented EIB by either ECT or some other tests of BHR. Nevertheless, the percentage of athletes with EIB who used ICS continuously with SABA intermittently gradually increased from 46.1 percent in 1996 to 77.2 percent in 2006. The World Anti-Doping Agency allows inhaled albuterol, LABA (salmeterol and formoterol) and all registered topical glucocorticoids (67).

5.3.2.2. Mast-cell stabilizing agents, anticholinergics and antihistamines

If SABA is not effective in preventing EIB, then addition substitution of mast-cell stabilizing agents, such as cromolyn or nedocromil, may be indicated (51). Although cromolyn and nedocromil have comparable efficacy in preventing EIB, especially immediately before exercise, their rare use is a consequence of the lack of availability in many European countries and the USA (23, 68).

Short-acting anticholinergic treatment is frequently combined with a beta₂ agonist to treat asthma exacerbation. In patients with EİB who require frequent

prophylactic treatment with SABA, it is suggested that ipratropium bromide may be helpful in reducing exercise-induced symptoms (23, 46).

Antihistamines may improve symptoms in allergic persons with EIB, although its efficacy was not proven in clinical studies. It should not be recommended for a nonallergic person who exhibits EIB (46).

5.3.2.3. Inhaled corticosteroids, long-acting beta, agonists and montelukast

When SABA is used more than four times per week to prevent EIB, the use of chronic therapy for better symptom control is justified (69). Inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) are the mainstay treatment of persistent asthma. This treatment is mostly sufficient to establish control of exercise-induced symptoms. Attenuation of EIB starts after a week, but in most patients, full control is established after several months of therapy. There are different opinions as to whether the decrease in exercise-induced symptoms and postexercise FEV correlates with the dose of regularly used ICS, but it seems reasonable to believe that moderate to high doses may have better protective effects compared to those of low doses (70, 71). Adherence to therapy with ICS leads to better asthma control. Discussing the results of ECT in preschool children with their parents did not result in an improvement in adherence to maintenance medication (72).

Stelmach *et al* (40) showed that the control of both asthma and the associated EIB could be achieved by the chronic use of several different, regularly used controller therapies. The lowest postexercise FEV₁ in this group of patients resulted from the regular oral use of montelukast, followed by a low dose of inhaled budesonide (BUD). Combined therapy with ICS and montelukast is showed to be superior to each therapy alone. Another study evaluated the effects of montelukast as an add-on therapy in decreasing the BHR in asthmatic children. A week of treatment with BUD decrease the BHR measured by ECT and a mannitol test (73). Adding montelukast to BUD led to a further decrease in BHR in this small group of patients.

Adding LABA to ICS is a possible next step in asthma management. Salmeterol and formoterol significantly improved asthma management, but its chronic use is associated with increased incidences of serious complications. Although it was shown that fluticasone propionate (FP) provided protection following ECT, the combination of FP and salmeterol was significantly better at reducing he lung function decrease after exercise in children and adolescents with asthma (74). Adding formoterol to BUD therapy did not contribute significantly to a further decrease in FEV₁ beyond that achieved with the initial treatment with BUD (39). Expectations that LABA will provide a more sustained effect in controlling

EIB are controversial (75). It is suggested that a single therapy with LABA alone is not recommended and that LABA should be added selectively (46, 75). A recently published study showed that the combination of BUD/ formoterol on demand improves EIB in patients with asthma better than SABA treatment on demand. The combination was also shown to be non-inferior to regular BUD treatment (76).

6. CONCLUSION

Exercise-induced respiratory symptoms are common in childhood. Ventilatory inefficacy, which is, in most cases a reason for exercise intolerance, frequently results in wheezing as a symptom of bronchoconstriction. Recent advances in the standardization of protocols for diagnosis allow appropriate therapeutic regimes, suitable pharmacologic treatment and undemanding nonpharmacologic interventions that finally should result in the continuation of physical activity and participation in sports by children.

7. REFERENCES

- H. Johansson, K. Norlander, H. Hedenstrom, C. Janson, L. Nordang, L. Nordvall, M. Emtner: Exercise-induced dyspnea a problem among the general adolescent population. Respir Med 108, 852-858 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.rmed.2014.03.010
- H. Johansson, K. Norlander, L. Berglund, C. Janson, A. Malinovschi, L. Nordvall, L. Nordang, M. Emtner: Prevalence of exerciseinduced bronchoconstriction and exerciseinduced laryngeal obstruction in a general population. adolescent Thorax 70, 57-63 (2015)

DOI: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-205738

- 3. Khan: Exercise-induced bronchoconstriction: burden and prevalence. Allergy Asthma Proc 33, 1-6 (2012) DOI: 10.2500/aap.2012.33.3507
- P. Frank, J. Morris, M. Hazell, M. Linehan, T. Frank: Long term prognosis in preschool children with wheeze: longitudinal postal questionnaire study 1993-2004. BMJ 336. 1423-1426 (2008)

DOI: 10.1136/bmj.39568.623750.BE

A. Stern, W. Morgan, M. Halonen, A. Wright, F. Martinez: Wheezing and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in early childhood as predictors of newly diagnosed asthma in early adulthood: a longitudinal birth-cohort study. Lancet 372, 1058-1064 (2008)

- DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61447-6
- 6. P. Christensen, J-H. Heimdal, K. Christopher, C. Bucca, G. Cantarella. G. Fridrich, T. Halvosen, F. Herth, H. Jung, M. Morris, M. Remacle, N. Rasmussen, J. Wilson, ERS/ ELS/ACCP 2013 international consensus conference nomenclature on inducible laryngeal obstructions. Eur Respir Rev 24, 445-450 (2015)

DOI: 10.1183/16000617.00006513

- S. Joshi, T Powell, W. Watkins, M. 7. Drayton, M. Williams, S. Kotecha: Exerciseinduced bronchoconstriction in schoolaged children who had chronic lung disease in infancy. J Pediatr 162, 813-818 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.09.040
- K. Wasserman, J. Hansen, D. Sue, W. Stringer. 8. B. Whipp. Principles of Exercise Testing and Interpreatation. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (2005) doi not found
- G. Gibson. Cardiac disease. In: Clinical Tests of Pulmonary Function. Chapman & Hall, London UK 298-311 (1996) doi not found
- 10. J. Roca, R. Rabinovich R. Clinical exercise testing. In: Lung Function Testing. Eds: R. Gosselink, H Stam. ERS Journals Ltd, London, UK, 146-160 (2005) doi not found
- 11. ATS/ACCP Statement on cardiopulmonary exercise testing. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167, 211-277 (2003) DOI: 10.1164/rccm.167.2.211
- 12. D. Vilozni, L. Bentur, O. Efrati, A. Barak, A. Szeinberg, D. Shoseyov, Y. Yahav, A. Augarten: Exercise Challenge Test in 3- to 6-Year- Old Asthmatic Children. Chest 132, 497-503 (2007)
 - DOI: 10.1378/chest.07-0052
- 13. J. Fredberg, D. Inouye, B. Miller, M. Nathan, S. Jafari, S. Raboudi, J. Butler, S. Shore: Airway smooth muscle, tidal stretches, and dynamically determined contractile states. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156, 1752-1759 (1997) DOI: 10.1164/ajrccm.156.6.9611016
- 14. S. Shore, W. Powell, J. Martin: Endogenous Bronchodilating Prostaglandins Modulate Contraction in Isolated Canine Tracheal Smooth Muscle (TSM). Chest 87, 161S (1985)

- DOI: 10.1378/chest.87.5 Supplement.161S
- H. Tanaka, K. Watanabe, N. Tamaru, M. Yoshida: Arachidonic acid metabolites and glucocorticoid regulatory mechanism in cultured porcine tracheal smooth muscle cells. *Lung* 173, 347-361 (1995)
 DOI: 10.1007/BF00172142
- A. Sovtic, P. Minic, J. Kosutic, G. Markovic-Sovtic, M. Gajic: Static hyperinflation is associated with decreased peak exercise performance in children with cystic fibrosis. *Respir Care* 58, 291-297 (2013) DOI: 10.4187/respcare.01946
- P. Palange, V. Brusasco, S. Del Giacco: Exercise and airway physiology: intreractions with immune and allergic responses. *Eur Respir Monogr* 33, 10-18 (2005). DOI: 10.1183/1025448x.00033003
- K. Carlsen, G. Haland, C. Devulapalli, M. Munthe-Kaas, M. Pettersen, B. Granum, M. Lovik, K-H. Carlsen: Asthma in every fifth child in Oslo, Norway: a 10-year follow up of a birth cohort study. *Allergy* 61, 454-460 (2006) DOI: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2005.00938.x
- N. Ostrom, N. Eid, T. Craig, G. Colice, M. Hayden, J. Parsons, S. Stoloff: Exercise- induced bronchospasm in children with asthma in the United States: results from the Exercise-Induced Bronchospasm Landmark Survey. *Allergy Asthma Proc* 32, 425-430 (2011)
 DOI: 10.2500/aap.2011.32.3502
- T. Mainardi, R. Mellins, R. Miller, L. Acosta, A. Cornell, L. Hoepner, J. Quinn, B. Yan, S. Chillrud, O. Olmedo, F. Perera, I. Goldstein, A. Rundle, J. Jacobson, M. Perzanowski: Exercise-induced wheeze, urgent medical visits, and neighborhood asthma prevalence. *Pediatrics* 131, 127-135 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2012-1072
- Official statement of the American Thoracic Society. Guidelines for methacholine and exercise challenge testing—1999. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161, 309–329 (2000) DOI: 10.1164/ajrccm.161.1.ats11-99
- K-H. Carlsen, K. Carlsen: Physical exercise, training and sports in asthmatic children and adolescents. *Eur Respir Monogr* 56, 40-58 (2012)
 DOI: 10.1183/1025448x.10016210

- 23. K. Carlsen, S. Anderson, L. Bjermer, S. Bonini, V. Brusasco, W. Canonica, J.Cummiskey, L. Delgado, S. Del Giacco, F. Drobnic, T. Haahtela, K. Larsson, P. Palange, T. Popov, P. van Cauwenberge: European Respiratory Society; European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology; GA(2)LEN. Treatment of exercise- induced asthma, respiratory and allergic disorders in sports and the relationship to doping: Part II of the report from the Joint Task Force of European Respiratory Society (ERS) and European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (EAACI) in cooperation with GA(2)LEN. Allergy 63, 492-505 (2008) DOI: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2008.01663.x
- L. Boulet, P. O'Byrne: Asthma and exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in athletes.
 N Engl J Med 372, 641-648 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1407552
- 25. J. Eveloff, D. Warnock: Activation of ion transport systems during cell volume regulation. *Am J Physiol* 252, 1-10 (1987) doi not found
- 26. T. Stensrud, S. Berntsen, K. Carlsen: Exercise capacity and exercise-induced bronchoconstriction (EIB) in a cold environment. *Respir Med* 101, 1529-1536 (2007)

 DOI: 10.1016/j.rmed.2006.12.011
- I. Gilbert, E. McFadden: Airway cooling and rewarming. The second reaction sequence in exercise-induced asthma. *J Clin Invest* 90, 699-704 (1992).
 DOI: 10.1172/JCI115940
- A. Freed, L. Kelly, H. Menkes: Airflow-induced Bronchospasm: Imbalance between Airway Cooling and Airway Drying. Am Rev Respir Dis 136, 595-599 (1987).
 DOI: 10.1164/ajrccm/136.3.595
- E. Baile, R. Dahlby, B. Wiggs, G. Parsons,
 P. Pare: Effect of cold and warm dry air hyperventilation on canine airway blood flow.
 J Appl Physiol 62, 526-532 (1985)
 doi not found
- T. Stensrud, S. Berntsen, K. Carlsen: Humidity influences exercise capacity in subjects with exercise-induced bronchoconstriction (EIB). Respir Med 100, 1633–1641 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.rmed.2005.12.001

- M. Couto, P. Santos, D. Silva, L. Delgado, A. Moreira: Exhaled breath temperature in elite swimmers: the effects of a training session in adolescents with or without asthma. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 26, 564-570 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1111/pai.12426
- 32. S. Anderson, P. Kippelen: Airway injury as a mechanism for exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in elite athletes. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 122, 225-235 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.05.001
- T. Hallstrand, M. Moody, M. Aitken, W. Henderson: Airway immunopathology of asthma with exercise-induced bronchoconstriction. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 116, 586-593 (2005)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.04.035
- K. Larsson, G. Tornling, D. Gavhed, C. Muller-Suur, L. Palmberg L: Inhalation of cold air increases the number of inflammatory cells in the lungs in healthy subjects. *Eur Respir J* 12, 825-830 (1998).
 DOI: 10.1183/09031936.98.12040825
- S. Carraro, M. Corradi, S. Zanconato, R. Alinovi, R. Francesca Pasquale, F. Zacchello, E. Baraldi: Exhaled breath condensate cysteinyl leukotrienes are increased in children with exercise-induced bronchoconstriction. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 115, 764-770 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2004.10.043
- T. Hallstrand, M. Moody, M. Wurfel, L. Schwartz,
 W. Henderson, M. Aitken: Inflammatory basis of exercise-induced bronchoconstriction. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 172, 679–686 (2005)
 DOI: 10.1164/rccm.200412-1667OC
- T. Hallstrand, E. Chi, A. Singer, M. Gelb, W. Henderson: Secreted phospholipase A2 group overexpression in asthma and bronchial hyperresponsiveness. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 176, 1072–1078 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1164/rccm.200707-1088OC
- E. Karjalainen, A. Laitinen, M. Sue-Chu, A. Altraja, L. Bjermer, L. Laitinen: Evidence of airway inflammation and remodeling in ski athletes with and without bronchial hyperresponsiveness to methacholine. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 161, 2086-2091 (2000).
 DOI: 10.1164/airccm.161.6.9907025
- 39. M. Sue-Chu, L. Larsson, T. Moen, S.

- Rennard, L. Bjermer: Bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage findings incross-country skiers with and without "ski asthma". *Eur Respir J* 13, 626-632 (1999). DOI: 10.1183/09031936.99.13362699
- I. Stelmach, T. Grzelewski, P. Majak, J. Jerzynska, W. Stelmach, P. Kuna: Effect of different antiasthmatic treatments on exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 121, 383-389 (2008)
 - DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.09.007
- 41. Task Force on Recognizing and Diagnosing Exercise-Related Asthma, Respiratory and Allergic Disorders in Sports. Evidence/based recommendations for the diagnosis of exercise-induced asthma in athletes. *Eur Respir Mon* 33, 102-104 (2005) DOI: 10.1183/1025448x.00033010
- S. Anderson: Indirect challenge tests airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma: Its measurement and clinical significance. Chest 138, 25S–30S (2010)
 DOI: 10.1378/chest.10-0116
- 43. G. Joos, B. O'Connor, S. Anderson: Indirect airway challenges. *Eur Respir J* 21, 1050-1068 (2003)

 DOI: 10.1183/09031936.03.00008403
- M. Silverman, S. Anderson: Standardization of exercise tests in asthmatic children. *Arch Dis Child* 47, 882-889 (1972)
 DOI: 10.1136/adc.47.256.882
- M. Miller, J. Hankinson, V. Brusasco: Standardization of spirometry. *Eur Respir J* 26, 319-338 (2005)
 DOI: 10.1183/09031936.05.00034805
- 46. J. Parsons, T. Hallstrand, J. Mastronarde, D. Kaminsky, K. Rundell, J. Hull, W. Storms, J. Weiler, F. Cheek, K. Wilson, S. Anderson: An official American Thoracic Society clinical practice guideline: exercise-induced bronchoconstriction. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 187, 1016-1027 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1164/rccm.201303-0437ST
- 47. G. Cropp: The exercise bronchoprovocation test: standardization of procedures and evaluation of response. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 64, 627–633 (1997)
 DOI: 10.1016/0091-6749(79)90026-5
- 48. S. Sanchez-Garcia, P. Rodriguez del Rio, C.

- Escudero, C. Garcia-Fernandez, M. Ibanez: Exercise-induced bronchospasm diagnosis in children. Utility of combined lung function tests. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 26, 73-79 (2015) DOI: 10.1111/pai.12319
- S. Kruger, D. Niles, B. Dardzinski, A. Harman, N. Jarjour, M. Ruddy, S. Nagle, C. Francois, R. Sorkness, R. Burton, A. Munoz del Rio, S. Fain: Hyperpolarized Helium-3 MRI of exerciseinduced bronchoconstriction during challenge and therapy. *J Magn Reson Imaging* 39, 1230-1237 (2014) DOI: 10.1002/jmri.24272
- K. Fitch, M. Sue-Chu, S. Anderson, L. Boulet, R. Hancox, D. McKenzie, V. Backer, K. Rundell, J. Alonso, P. Kippelen, J. Cummiskey, A. Garnier, A. Ljungqvist: Asthma and the elite athlete: summary of the International Olympic Committee's consensus conference, Lausanne, Switzerland, January 22-24, 2008. J Allergy Clin Immunol 122, 254-260 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.07.003
- 51. C. Randolph: Pediatric exercise-induced bronchoconstriction: contemporary developments in epidemiology, pathogenesis, presentation, diagnosis and therapy. *Curr Allergy Asthma Rep* 13, 662-671. DOI: 10.1007/s11882-013-0380-x
- J. Larsson, C. Perry, S. Anderson, J. Brannan, S. Dahlen, B. Dahlen: The occurrence of refractoriness and mast cell mediator release following mannitol-induced bronchoconstriction. *J Appl Physiol* 110, 1029 –1035 (2011)
 DOI: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00978.2010
- 53. M. Elkins, J. Brannan: Warm-up exercise can reduce exercise-induced bronchoconstriction. *Br J Sports Med* 7, 657-658 (2013) DOI: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091725
- 54. D. McKenzie, S. McLuckie, D.Stirling: The protective effects of continuous and interval exercise in athletes with exerciseinduced asthma. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 26, 951–956 (1994) DOI: 10.1249/00005768-199408000-00004
- 55. J. Weiler, S. Bonini, R. Coifman, T. Craig, L. Delgado, M. Capao-Filipe, D. Passali, C. Randolph, W. Storms W: American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology Work Group report: exercise-induced asthma.

J Allergy Clin Immunol 119:1349-1358 (2007)

- DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.02.041
- 56. J. McCreanor, P. Cullinan, M. Nieuwenhuijsen, J. Stewart-Evans, E. Malliarou, L. Jarup, R. Harrington, M. Svartengren, I. Han, P. Ohman-Strickland, K. Chung, J. Zhang: Respiratory effects of exposure to diesel traffic in persons with asthma. N Engl J Med 357, 2348-2358 (2007) DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa071535
- 57. H. Hemila: The effect of vitamin C on bronchoconstriction and respiratory symptoms caused by exercise: a review and statistical analysis. *Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol* 10, 58 (2014) DOI: 10.1186/1710-1492-10-58
- S. Tecklenburg, T. Mickleborough,
 A. Fly,Y. Bai, J. Stager: Ascorbic acid supplementation attenuates exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in patients with asthma. Respir Med 101, 1770–1778 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.rmed.2007.02.014
- H. Hemila: Vitamin C may alleviate exerciseinduced bronchoconstriction: a meta-analysis.
 BMJ Open 3, e002416 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002416
- T. Mickleborough, A. Fogarty: Dietary sodium intake and asthma: an epidemiological and clinical review. *Int J Clin Pract* 60, 1616–1624 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2006.01103.x
- R. Gotshall, T. Mickleborough, L. Cordain: Dietary salt restriction improves pulmonary function in exercise-induced asthma. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 32, 1815–1859 (2000)
 DOI: 10.1097/00005768-200011000-00001
- T. Mickleborough, R. Murray, A. Ionescu, M. Lindley: Fish oil supplementation reduces severity of exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in elite athletes. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 168, 1181–1189 (2003) DOI: 10.1164/rccm.200303-373OC
- 63. Global Initiative for Asthma. Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention 2014. Downloaded from: www.ginasthma.org doi not found
- 64. S. Koch, D. Karacabeyli, C. Galts, M. MacInnis, B. Sporer, M. Koehle: Effects of inhaled bronchodilators on lung function and cyclingperformance in female athletes with and without exercise-inducedbronchoconstriction.

- J Sci Med Sport 18, 607-612 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.jsams.2014.07.021
- M. Bonini, C. Di Mambro, M. Calderon, E. Compalati, H. Schunemann, S. Durham, G. Canonica: Beta₂-agonists for exercise-induced asthma. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2013, 10:CD003564
 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.cd003564.pub3
- 66. M. Bonini, P. Permaul, T. Kulkarni, S. Kazani, A. Segal, C. Sorkness, E. Wechsler, E. Israel: Loss of salmeterol bronchoprotection against exercise in relation to ADRB2 Arg16Gly polymorphism and exhaled nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 188, 1407-1412 (2013) DOI: 10.1164/rccm.201307-1323OC
- 67. World anti-doping agency. Prohibited list.

 Downloaded from: https://www.wadaama.org/en/resources/science-medicine/
 prohibited-list
 doi not found
- 68. K. Kelly, C. Spooner, B. Rowe: Nedocromil sodium versus sodium cromoglycate in treatment of exercise-induced bronchoconstriction: a systematic review. *Eur Respir J* 17, 39-45 (2001)

 DOI: 10.1183/09031936.01.17100390
- W. Smith: Beta₂-agonists for exerciseinduced asthma. *Paediatr Child Health* 19, 355-356 (2014) doi not found
- 70. W. Hofstra, H. Neijens, E. Duiverman, J. Kouwenberg, P. Mulder, M. Kuethe, P. Sterk: Dose-responses over time to inhaled fluticasone propionate treatment of exercise- and methacholine-induced bronchoconstriction in children with asthma. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 29, 415-423 (2000) DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-0496(200006)29:6 <415::AID-PPUL1>3.0.CO;2-7
- P. Subbarao, M. Duong, E. Adelroth, J. Otis, G. Obminski, M. Inman, S. Pedersen, P. O' Byrne: Effect of ciclesonide dose and duration of therapy on exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in patients with asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 117, 1008-1013 (2006). DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.11.048
- 72. R. Visser, M. Brusse-Keizer, J. van der Palen, T. Klok, B. Thio: The impact of discussing exercise test results of young asthmatic children on adherence to maintenance medication. *J Asthma* 18, 1-6 (2015)

- DOI: 10.3109/02770903.2015.1008141
- 73. S. Torok, T. Mueller, D. Miedinger, A. Jochmann, L. Zellweger, S. Sauter, A. Goll, P. Chhajed, A. Taegtmeyer, B.Knopfli, J. Leuppi: An open- label study examining the effect of pharmacological treatment on mannitol and exercise-induced airway hyperresponsiveness in asthmatic children and adolescents with exercise-induced bronchoconstriction. *BMC Pediatr* 14, 196 (2014)

 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2431-14-196
- D. Pearlman, P. Qaqundah, J. Matz, S. Yancey,
 D. DanStempel, H. Ortega: Fluticasone Propionate/Salmeterol and exercise-induced asthma in children with persistent asthma. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 44, 429–435 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1002/ppul.20962
- 75. M. Weinberger: Long-acting beta-agonists and exercise. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 122, 251-253 (2008)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.05.030
- N. Lazarinis, L. Jorgensen, T. Ekstrom, L. Bjermer, B. Dahlen, T. Pullerits, G. Hedlin, K. Carlsen, K. Larsson:. Combination of budesonide/formoterol on demand improves asthma control by reducing exercise-induced bronchoconstriction. *Thorax* 69, 130-136 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-203557

Key Words: Exercise, Wheezing, Asthma, Airway Hyperresponsiveness, Exercise Testing, Review

Send correspondence to: Predrag Minic, 6 Radoja Dakica St, 11070 Belgrade, Serbia. Tel: 381-11-3108-158, Fax: 381-11-3108-158, E-mail: pbminic@eunet.rs